v.

Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 10/5/2021 by Tayuan Ma, Deputy Clerk

**FILED WITH PERMISSION** 

Supreme Court No. S268320

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

**PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**, Plaintiff and Respondent,

Defendant and Appellant.

**DUVANH ANTHONY MCWILLIAMS,** 

No. H045525

(Santa Clara County No. C1754407)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SIXTH DISTRICT APPELLATE PROGRAM William M. Robinson Senior Staff Attorney State Bar No. 95951 95 S. Market Street, Suite 570 San Jose, CA 95113 Telephone: (408) 241-6171 email: <u>bill@sdap.org</u>

Attorneys for Appellant, DUVANH ANTHONY MCWILLIAMS

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABI	LE OF CONTENTS
TABI	LE OF AUTHORITIES 5
APPI	ELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS
	MARY OF ISSUES ON REVIEW AND CONCESSION BY PONDENT
А. В.	<ul> <li>"Statement of Issue" on this Court's Website</li></ul>
C.	Respondent's Concession Letter
SUM	MARY OF ARGUMENT 11
A. B. C.	Background to the Argument.11The Present Case.15Issues Raised Herein.161.The Unlawfulness of the Detention.182.Discovery of the Parole Search Condition Should Not Be an Intervening Factor Which Triggers Application of the Brown Balancing Test.193.Application of the Brown Balancing Test.22
	ment of the Case
ARG	UMENT
I.	The Detention of McWilliams Was Unlawful in that It Was Made Without Reasonable Suspicion that He was Engaged in Criminal Activity or Created a Danger to the Officer 

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

II.	Discovery of a Parole or Probation Search Condition Should Not Be Considered an Intervening Circumstance that Can Attenuate the Wrongdoing of an Unlawful Detention under the <i>Brown</i> Balancing Test
A.	From <i>Brown</i> to <i>Brendlin</i> , and the Wrong Turn of <i>Durant</i>
	1. The <i>Brown</i> Balancing Test and Its Early Applications
	2.Brendlin, Strieff, and Discovery of an Arrest Warrant as an Intervening Factor.312.Brendlin.32a.Brendlin.32b.Strieff.363.Durant. Bates. and Present Case.39
	3.       Durant, Bates, and Present Case
В.	<ul> <li>Circumstances Which Militate Against Discovery of a Search Condition Being an Intervening Factor</li></ul>
C.	This Court Should Reject <i>Durant</i> , and Hold, With <i>Bates</i> and <i>Garcia</i> , that Discovery of a Search Condition After an Unlawful Detention is Not an Independent Intervening Cause Which Triggers Attenuation Analysis

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

III.	If the <i>Brown</i> Balancing Test Applies, Discovery of McWilliams's Parole Search Condition Should Not Be Considered Sufficiently Attenuating to Dissipate the Taint of the Unlawful Detention of McWilliams54			
	А. В.	The Temporal Factor		
	D.	Search Condition		
	C.	The Purposefulness and Flagrancy of the Wrongdoing		
		1. Flagrancy and Purposefulness of Police Misconduct Should Be Measured by Objective Standards, Focused on the Officer Having Purposeful Disregard of Fourth Amendment		
		Protections		
		2. The Purposefulness and Flagrancy of Officer Croucher's Conduct		
	D.	3. The Specter of Implicit Racial Bias		
		Attenuation is Not Shown, and the Exclusionary Rule Applies		
CON	CLUS	BION		
CER'	TIFIC	ATE OF WORD COUNT		
DECL	ARATI	ON OF SERVICE BY E-MAIL AND U.S. MAIL		

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## CASES

B.B. v. County of Los Angeles (2020) 10 Cal. 5th 10,63
Brendlin v. California (2007) 551 U.S. 249 33
Brown v. Illinois (1975) 422 U.S. 590
<i>Collins v. Virginia</i> (2018)U.S [138 S.Ct. 1663, 1672]51
<i>Floyd v. City of New York</i> (SDNY 2013) 959 F.Supp.2d 540 64,65
In re Edgerrin J. (2020) 57 Cal.App.5th 752 62,63
Jacobellis v. Ohio (1964) 378 U.S. 184
<i>McBath v. State</i> (Alaska Ct.App. 2005) 108 P.3d 241 58
Mounts v. Uyeda (1991) 227 Cal.App.3d 111 63
People v. Bates (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 60
People v. Brendlin (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1107
People v. Brendlin (2008) 45 Cal.4th 262
<i>People v. Bryant</i> (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 525
People v. Casares (2016) 62 Cal.4th 808
People v. Durant (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 57 passim
People v. Quinn (2021) 59 Cal.App.5th 874 47,55
<i>People v. Rodriguez</i> (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 113758

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONTINUED)

People v. Roth (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 211 18,28,29,59,69
People v. Sanders (2003) 31 Cal.4th 318 49
People v. Scheu (Dist.Ct. 1998) 177 Misc.2d 922 [677 N.Y.S.2d 904, 907]
<i>People v. Wilkins</i> (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 804 50
<i>State v. Bean</i> (Iowa Ct.App. 2020) 952 N.W.2d 180 51,52
<i>State v. Fenton</i> (Idaho Ct.App. 2017) 413 P.3d 419 50
<i>State v. Martin</i> (Kan. 2008) 179 P.3d 45758
<i>Terry v. Ohio</i> (1968) 392 U.S. 1
U.S. v. Simpson (8th Cir. 2006) 439 F.3d 490
<i>U.S. v. Williams</i> (6th Cir. 2010) 615 F.3d 65757
United States v. Crews (1980) 445 U.S. 463 34
United States v. Davis (10th Cir. 1996) 94 F.3d 1465 51
United States v. Garcia (9th. Cir. 2020) 974 F.3d 1071
United States v. Leon (1984) 468 U.S. 897 37
United States v. Mati (N.D.Cal. 2020) 466 F. Supp.3d 1046 50
United States v. Retta (D.Nev. 2015) 156 F. Supp.3d 1192 50
<i>Utah v. Strieff</i> (2016) 579 U.S. 232
Wong Sun v. United States (1963) 371 U.S. 471 11,30,31

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONTINUED)

## CONSTITUTIONS

United States Constitution	
Fourth Amendment.	 passim

### STATUTES

Evidence Code
§ 452
Health & Safety Code
11378.524
§ 11379.5
Penal Code
66724
$\S$ 667.5
§ 1170.12
§ 1538.5
§ 12022
§ 13519.4
§ 29800
§ 30305

## MISCELLANEOUS

Charles R. Epp, Steven Maynard-Moody & Donald
Haider-Markel, Pulled Over: How Police Stops Define Race and
Citizenship (2014, Univ. Chicago Press)

Supreme Court No. S268320

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

**PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DUVANH ANTHONY MCWILLIAMS, Defendant and Appellant. (Sixth Dist. No. H045525; Santa Clara County No. C1754407)

## **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

## SUMMARY OF ISSUES ON REVIEW AND CONCESSION BY RESPONDENT

## A. "Statement of Issue" on this Court's Website

(1) Is the discovery of a parole or probation search condition an intervening circumstance that removes the taint of an illegal detention under the attenuation doctrine? (2) What constitutes purposeful and flagrant police misconduct under the attenuation doctrine analysis?

# B. Issue Presented for Review as Set Forth in Appellant's Petition for Review

## 1. Police Discovery of Search Condition as Factor Attenuating Prior Illegal Detention.

a. Should the attenuating intervening circumstance rule of *People v. Brendlin* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 262 (*Brendlin*) and *Utah v. Strieff* (2016) 579 U.S. 232, 136 S.Ct. 2056 (*Strieff*, hereafter by S.Ct. pagination) – in which this Court and the United States

Supreme Court concluded that police discovery of an *arrest warrant* for a suspect who is unlawfully detained in violation of the Fourth Amendment can sufficiently attenuate the connection between the illegality and a search incident to arrest pursuant to such a warrant, such that the exclusionary rule should not be applied – be expanded to include discovery of a *discretionary parole or probation search condition* by police as the fruit of an unlawful detention, which, unlike an arrest warrant, does not trigger a mandatory duty on the part of police?

b. Should this Court grant review to address this important question of law and to resolve a dispute between published decisions of the Courts of Appeal? (Compare *People v. Durant* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 57 [extending holding in *Brendlin* to cover discovery of search condition as factor attenuating preceding illegality] with *People v. Bates* (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 60 [disagreeing with *Durant*, holding that a search condition is less attenuating than an arrest warrant because it creates no mandatory duty]; see also majority and dissenting opinions in the present case, following *Durant*, and *Bates*, respectively.)

## 2. The "Flagrancy of the Misconduct" Prong of the Attenuation Equation, and the Impact of Racial Profiling.

a. In evaluating the gravity of the Fourth Amendment wrongdoing in connection with the third, and most critical, "flagrancy of misconduct" prong of the attenuation test, where the defendant in question is Black, should a court consider, as the dissenting justice in the present case suggests, as an aspect of the evolving "broader cultural views on racial injustice," the "no[t] secret" fact that people of color are "disproportionate victims of this type of scrutiny' in suspicionless stops"? (App. A, Dis. Opin. at 6-7, quoting *B.B. v. County of Los Angeles* (2020) 10 Cal. 5th 1, 31 (conc. opn. of Liu, J.), and *Strieff*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. at pp. 2070-2071 (dis. opn. of Sotomayor, J.).)

b. Where, as in the present case, the purported basis for the detention – to investigate possible auto burglaries by two suspects on bicycles shining flashlights into parked cars in the parking lot of a closed office complex – has no conceivable connection to the unlawfully detained defendant – observed by police reclining in a vehicle in a nearby parking lot, with no bicycles, flashlights, or other persons anywhere to be seen – is the gravity of the wrongdoing from the suspicionless stop, considered with or without the racial justice component noted above, sufficiently weak such the attenuating circumstance of the officer's discovery of a parole search condition attenuates the taint of the unlawful detention? Or, as Justice Danner's dissenting opinion explains, does "the close connection between the illegal detention and the search, the absence of any reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, the lack of any exigency or emergency, the highly discretionary actions of the officer, and the officer's own description of his actions as part of his regular practice all counsel against application of the attenuation doctrine"? (App. A, Dis. Opin. at 7)

### C. Respondent's Concession Letter

Prior to the filing of this brief, respondent filed a letter with this Court advising that "following further internal consideration

and deliberation . . . respondent intends to take the position that the judgment of the Court of Appeal should not be affirmed. Specifically, respondent intends to argue that the officer's post-detention discovery of McWilliams's parole status did not sufficiently attenuate the taint from the officer's unlawful detention of McWilliams to render lawful the subsequent search of McWilliams and his vehicle." (Respondent's Concession Letter of September 14, 2021 ("Resp. Conc, Ltr.").)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As the grounds for review summarized above make clear, this case presents important related Fourth Amendment issues for this Court to resolve. Appellant will trace the background to the issues presented in the instant case, then summarize his arguments to be advanced.

#### A. Background to the Argument

The Fourth Amendment exclusionary rule has always embodied a tension between the requirement, as coined by the Supreme Court in *Wong Sun v. United States* (1963) 371 U.S. 471, of suppression of any evidence that is the "fruit of the poisonous tree," and a recognition that some evidence need not be suppressed where its connection to the Fourth Amendment violation by police is so attenuated as to "dissipate the taint" of the wrongdoing. (*Id.*, at p. 488; *Brown v. Illinois* (1975) 422 U.S. 590, 603 ("*Brown*").) This Court explained this principle aptly in *Brendlin*.

[N]ot . . . all evidence is "fruit of the poisonous tree" simply because it would not have come to light but for the illegal

actions of the police. Rather, the more apt question in such a case is whether, granting establishment of the primary illegality, the evidence to which instant objection is made has been come at by exploitation of that illegality or instead by means sufficiently distinguishable to be purged of the primary taint. [citations] [B]ut-for cause, or 'causation in the logical sense alone,' [citation] can be too attenuated to justify exclusion. . ."

*Brendlin, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 268 (citations and internal quotations omitted).)

Since *Brown*, courts have employed a balancing test to determine whether police wrongdoing requires suppression of evidence, again summarized aptly by Court in *Brendlin*.

[T]he question before the court is whether the chain of causation proceeding from the unlawful conduct has become so attenuated or has been interrupted by some intervening circumstance so as to remove the 'taint' imposed upon that evidence by the original illegality." Relevant factors in this 'attenuation' analysis include the temporal proximity of the Fourth Amendment violation to the procurement of the challenged evidence, the presence of intervening circumstances, and the flagrancy of the official misconduct.

(Id., at p. 269 (citations and internal quotations omitted.)

In *Brendlin*, this Court applied the *Brown* balancing test to a situation where, in the course of an unlawful traffic stop, a police officer discovered that the detained person had an outstanding arrest warrant, concluding that the second and third factors provided sufficient attenuation to remove the taint.

As to the second factor, this Court characterized discovery of a no-bail arrest warrant as "an intervening circumstance that tends to dissipate the taint caused by an illegal traffic stop . . .", noting that "a warrant is not reasonably subject to interpretation or abuse . . .", and that the "no-bail warrant . . . supplied legal authorization to arrest defendant that was completely independent of the circumstances that led the officer to initiate the traffic stop." (*Id.*, at p. 271.)

Looking to the third factor, the flagrancy of the wrongdoing, "generally regarded as the most important" . . . (*ibid*.), this court concluded the officer's unlawful traffic stop was based on the officer's inadvertence in not noticing a temporary registration sticker, not on intentional wrongdoing, noting this was not a situation where the officer "had a design and purpose to effect the stop . . . in the hope that something else might turn up." (*Ibid*.) Based on these considerations, this Court held that contraband seized by police following a search incident to Brendlin's arrest pursuant to the arrest warrant should not be suppressed because the warrant attenuated the harm of the unlawful seizure. (*Id*., at p. 72.)

Four years after *Brendlin*, the court in *Durant*, *supra*, 205 Cal.App.4th 57, extended the holding in *Brendlin* to encompass, as an intervening circumstance, the factor at stake in the present case: the discovery of probationary search condition. The *Durant* court concluded that under the circumstances of that case, this discovery constituted an attenuating circumstance which purged the taint of an unlawful traffic detention. The unique facts of *Durant* involved an officer pulling over the defendant for not signaling a left turn from a designated left-turn-only lane which,

apparently, is not a Vehicle Code violation, and the officer then immediately recognizing defendant Durant as a person he knew to be on probation with a search condition, then patting him down and seizing a firearm that was on his person. (*Id.*, at 60-61.)

Two years later, the Sixth District, in *Bates*, *supra*, 222 Cal.App.4th 60, took issue with the holding in *Durant*, cautioning that a search condition creates no mandatory duty but is only "a discretionary enforcement tool and therefore a less compelling intervening circumstance than an arrest warrant." (*Id*, at p. 70.) *Bates* wisely cautioned that "discovery after the fact of a probation search condition" should not properly be used to "sanitize any unlawful detention" because "doing so would open the door to random vehicle detentions for the purpose of locating probationers having search conditions." (*Id.*, at pp. 70-71.)

So the law stood in California for the past seven years. In the meantime, a divided U.S. Supreme Court decided *Strieff*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. 2056, with the majority reaching the same result as *Brendlin*, concluding that discovery of an arrest warrant can attenuate the taint from unlawful detention. Justice Kagan's dissent is salient to the present case, borrowing from tort law to point out that an "intervening cause" in the analogous situation of discovery of an arrest warrant is supposed to be *independent* of the original cause to be considered superseding, but that police discovery of an arrest warrant is, as Justice Kagan put it, "an eminently foreseeable consequence" of an unlawful detention as it is a police practice to search for such warrant in connection with any stop by the police. (*Strieff, supra*, 136 S.Ct. at pp. 2072-2073,

dis. opn. of Kagan, J.)

#### B. The Present Case

On a January evening, San Jose Police Officer Croucher was dispatched to the parking lot of a closed office complex in response to a report, from a private security guard, that he saw two persons, riding on bicycles who were suspiciously shining flashlights into parked cars. On arrival, Officer Croucher didn't see anybody in the parking lot on a bicycle, either in the parking lot the security guard had seen this, or in an adjoining lot which he also checked. But in the adjoining lot, he saw something that aroused his suspicions: defendant Duvanh Anthony McWilliams, a Black man, sitting reclined in the passenger seat of a vehicle. Nothing about the situation with McWilliams connected him to the previously observed criminal conduct; there were no bicycles, flashlights, or other persons anywhere to be seen. Nonetheless, and in conformance with a practice which he employs with "most car stops" and "most suspicious vehicles" that he comes across (2RT 312), he ordered McWilliams out of the vehicle, ostensibly for officer safety and to follow up on the reported burglary. Asking no questions related to the burglary, the officer instead demanded that McWilliams produce his identification, which he then checked with dispatch, learning that McWilliams was on parole with a search condition. The ensuing search of the vehicle led to discovery of drugs and a firearm, after which McWilliams was arrested and charged with illegal possession of contraband.

Defendant's suppression motion in the trial court was denied on the grounds that the underlying detention was lawful.

But this conclusion was roundly dismissed in the Court of Appeal, with both the majority and dissent concluding that there was no proper basis to detain McWilliams in connection with the previously observed potential burglaries, or for any other lawful basis.

The appellate panel divided, 2 to 1, on whether the search could be justified based on the officer's discovery of the parole search condition, with the majority following *Durant* and finding sufficient attenuation, characterizing the police wrongdoing as in "good faith," and the dissent following *Bates* and concluding that the parole search condition did not dissipate the taint of the wrongful conduct by the officer, which it characterized as a deliberate "fishing expedition" type of Fourth Amendment violation.

#### C. Issues Raised Herein

The present case concerns a series of related issues which connects the two preceding summaries – the background of the present case, and the history of the attenuation doctrine as applied to parole/probation search conditions as an intervening factor.

Preliminarily, appellant notes that the recent Concession Letter from the Attorney General in the present case – stating that "respondent intends to argue that the officer's post- detention discovery of McWilliams's parole status did not sufficiently attenuate the taint from the officer's unlawful detention of McWilliams to render lawful the subsequent search of McWilliams and his vehicle" – complicates the issues somewhat. The point conceded by respondent would, plainly, require reversal of the majority's decision in the Court of Appeal and the trial court's order denying the motion to suppress. What is less than clear is the scope of the concession.

For purposes of this brief, appellant will assume, as suggested by the wording of the concession, that respondent's concedes (a) that the initial detention of Mr. McWilliams in the present case was unlawful, (b) that it is correct to apply the *Brown* attenuation test to an officer's discovery, following an unlawful detention, of a parole search condition, and that (c) a proper application of the test, on the facts and circumstances of the present case, requires a determination that discovery of the parole search was insufficient to attenuate the taint from the unlawful detention, which renders the subsequent search and seizure unlawful under the Fourth Amendment,

Thus, in the argument that follows, appellant will briefly focus on the first aspect of the Fourth Amendment issue in the present case, whether the initial detention of Mr. McWilliams was unlawful. We will then turn to the first "larger" question in the present case, not addressed by respondent's concession: whether discovery of a parole/probation search following an unlawful detention should ever be properly be considered an attenuation factor subject to the *Brown* balancing test. Finally, appellant will address the final question on which respondent appears to have also conceded – whether a proper application of the *Brown* balancing test to the facts and circumstances of the present case requires the conclusion now urged by respondent, that the parole search condition is not a sufficient intervening

factor to attenuate for the wrongdoing of the officer, and thus application of the exclusionary rule in this case.

#### 1. The Unlawfulness of the Detention.

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