No. S268320

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DUVAHN ANTHONY MCWILLIAMS, $Defendant\ and\ Appellant.$

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H045525 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1754407 The Honorable David A. Cena, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

officers' subjective good faith should [have] play[ed] in the attenuation analysis." (*Id.* at p. 1081.)

As an initial matter, it is not at all clear that *Garcia* supports McWilliams's contention that discovery of a search condition is not a qualifying intervening factor such that *Brown* does not apply. *Garcia*'s conclusion that it could come to a decision by considering only two of the *Brown* factors could instead be understood as meaning that the *Brown* test *is* applicable when the intervening circumstance is discovery of probation or parole status but that the intervening circumstance will not actually result in attenuation unless the first and third factors favor that result.

However, to the extent *Garcia* can be read as authorizing a short-circuiting of the *Brown* inquiry based solely on the discretionary nature of the search condition, the Attorney General disagrees with that approach. Although the Ninth Circuit deemed unnecessary any inquiry into the third *Brown* factor simply on the ground that "the other two factors . . . both favor[ed] suppression" (*Garcia*, *supra*, 974 F.3d at p. 1081), the Supreme Court has held that the purposefulness and flagrancy of an officer's conduct is "particularly" important among the three *Brown* factors (*Strieff*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. at p. 2062; *Brown*, *supra*, 422 U.S. at p. 604; see also *Brendlin*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 271 ["The third *Brown* factor, the flagrancy and purposefulness of the police misconduct, is generally regarded as the most important because it is directly tied to the purpose of the exclusionary rule—deterring police misconduct" (internal quotation marks

omitted)]). More generally, the purpose of the *Brown* test is to assess whether an intervening event—the *Miranda* warnings in *Brown*, the arrest warrant in *Brendlin* and in *Strieff*, and parole search condition here—attenuates the taint of the initial Fourth Amendment violation under the totality of circumstances such that the evidence obtained as a but-for result of the antecedent illegality is itself not the product of "unreasonable searches and seizures." (U.S. Const., 4th Amend.) As the United States Supreme Court has stated, "The touchstone of our analysis under the Fourth Amendment is always 'the reasonableness in all the circumstances of the particular governmental invasion of a citizen's personal security." (*Pennsylvania v. Mimms* (1977) 434 U.S. 106, 108-109 (per curiam).) Not considering "all the circumstances" identified in *Brown* contravenes that command and establishes an unjustified per se rule.

Brown itself rejected a "per se or 'but for' rule" precluding suppression of a confession incident to a Fourth Amendment violation. (Brown, supra, 422 U.S. at p. 603.) Brown cautioned that "[n]o single fact" should be "dispositive" and that "[t]he workings of the human mind are too complex, and the possibilities of misconduct too diverse, to permit protection of the Fourth Amendment to turn on such a talismanic test." (Ibid.) Decades later, Strieff refused to cabin the attenuation doctrine "to independent acts by the defendant," confirming that the doctrine applies to any event that affects "the causal link between the government's unlawful act and the discovery of evidence." (Strieff, supra, 136 S.Ct. at p. 2061, internal quotation marks

omitted.) *Brown* and *Strieff* thus counsel against flatly excluding probation or parole status from the universe of causally intervening factors. Like the arrest warrant in *Strieff*, a defendant's parole search condition is undisputedly an independent and antecedent causal basis for a search.⁵

McWilliams makes several other points in favor of his preferred approach, but none is ultimately persuasive. (OBM 48-53.) McWilliams points to the rule of *People v. Sanders* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 318, 333—that if a searching "officer is unaware that the suspect is on parole and subject to a search condition" and

⁵ Similar to the Ninth Circuit in *Garcia*, the Kansas Supreme Court did not fully resolve the flagrancy prong in *State* v. Christian (2019) 310 Kan. 229, an attenuation case that did not involve a search condition. The arresting officer in *Christian* unlawfully detained the defendant and then arrested him for "failure to provide proof of insurance," after which a search of the defendant's vehicle discovered contraband. (Id. at pp. 231-233.) The Kansas Supreme Court observed that while "a valid warrant that predates and is unconnected with [an unlawful] stop independently compels the officer to make an arrest," an officer merely has "discretion to arrest [someone] for no proof of insurance." (Id. at p. 238.) The discretionary nature of the arrest in Christian thus distinguished the warranted arrest in Strieff, which was "an intervening 'ministerial act' consistent with the officer's 'sworn *duty* to carry out [the] provisions' of the arrest warrant." (*Ibid.*) Consequently, "[e]ven if nothing in the record revealed flagrancy, the attenuation doctrine [did] not allow the admission of the evidence" discovered in *Christian*. (*Christian*, at p. 241.) Like *Garcia*, the *Christian* decision can be viewed either as applying *Brown*—albeit with an abbreviated analysis of the third factor—or as simply bypassing the third factor. For the reasons expressed *ante* in the discussion of *Garcia*, the latter approach is incorrect.

conducts an otherwise illegal search, the search is not rendered valid by the officer's later learning of the condition—and argues that discovery of a parole search condition likewise should not constitute an intervening circumstance. (OBM 49-50.)

Sanders reasoned that a search without knowing of the search condition "cannot be justified as a parole search because the officer is not acting pursuant to the conditions of parole." (Sanders, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 333.) McWilliams parallels that reasoning and argues that discovery of parole status should not constitute an intervening circumstance because such a discovery does not legitimize an otherwise unlawful search conducted before the discovery. (OBM 49-50.) But the necessarily parallelism is lacking. Sanders's holding rested on the principle of Fourth Amendment jurisprudence that reasonableness is assessed "based upon the circumstances known to the officer when the search [was] conducted." (Sanders, at p. 332.) Thus, Sanders arose in the context of an illegal search followed by discovery of the search condition. But the *Brown* attenuation assessment applies when there is antecedent illegality (e.g., an unlawful detention), followed by discovery of the search condition, followed by the search that is being assessed for taint. In other words, discovery of the parole search condition could be an intervening circumstance only if it *preceded* the search.

In any event, *Sanders* is inapposite because the issue there was whether a Fourth Amendment violation occurred in the first place—an outcome not in dispute here—not whether suppression might be inappropriate under *Brown*'s attenuation doctrine

notwithstanding that violation. (*Sanders*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at pp. 331-336; *People v. Casper* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 38, 43 ["It is axiomatic that cases are not authority for propositions not considered"].)

McWilliams's use of Sanders is further unpersuasive because taken to its logical conclusion, it would also preclude discovery of an arrest warrant from constituting an intervening circumstance. Because the legality of an officer's search of a defendant is "based upon the circumstances known to the officer when [a] search is conducted," an officer who searches incident to an unwarranted arrest without probable cause and then learns of an arrest warrant for the defendant cannot retroactively justify the search based on the belated discovery of the warrant. (See Sanders, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 332.) Under McWilliams's logic, then, the officer's inability to use the postsearch discovery of an arrest warrant to justify the search would also preclude the discovery of an arrest warrant from serving as an intervening circumstance under the attenuation doctrine. And that outcome is irreconcilable with the holdings in *Strieff* and *Brendlin*. The propriety of retroactive justification of a search is simply a different legal issue than assessing the attenuating effect of an event after the initial Fourth Amendment violation that then leads to a search.

McWilliams's analogy to the plain view doctrine (OBM 51-52) is no more persuasive than his reliance on *Sanders*. Unlike a defendant's parole status (or an arrest warrant), the officer's ability to view contraband "obtained only because of the officer's

preceding illegal seizure or entry" (OBM 51) is not an independent and antecedent basis for a search.

McWilliams also relies on the distinction between the ministerial duty associated with an arrest warrant (as recognized in *Strieff*) and the discretionary authority conferred by a search condition. (OBM 50-51.) Just because the discovery of a parole search condition has *less* intervening force than the discovery of an arrest warrant, however, does not mean that the former discovery is not an intervening event at all when deciding whether *Brown* must be used to assess attenuation of taint. Although applying *Brown* and refusing to apply *Brown* may lead to the same outcome—suppression—applying *Brown* in the first place is still appropriate to cabin suppression to instances that warrant that remedy, as prescribed by *Wong Sun*.

McWilliams's cited cases (OBM 50-51) do not demonstrate otherwise. People v. Wilkins (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 804 predated Brendlin and did not discuss attenuation at all. Similarly, United States v. Retta (D.Nev. 2015) 156 F.Supp.3d 1192 predated Strieff and its reliance on the independence of the arrest warrant when assessing attenuation. And contrary to McWilliams's characterization, United States v. Mati (N.D.Cal. 2020) 466 F.Supp.3d 1046 did not hold that the discovery of a probation search condition is never an intervening circumstance; rather, Mati ruled that the discovery was not an intervening circumstance on the facts of that case because the discovery "was the very object of the prolonged stop" rather than being merely fortuitous. (Id. at p. 1061.)

Finally, McWilliams invokes certain policy considerations as support for not applying *Brown*, such as the potential for abuse of the attenuation doctrine. (OBM 52-53.) The Court can more properly account for these considerations by according the proper weight under the second *Brown* factor to the intervening force of the discovery, which—as discussed *post* in Argument II.C—is quite limited. Moreover, recognizing that Brown must be applied to the discovery of a parole search condition does not mean that the taint of the antecedent illegality is always attenuated. To the contrary, that will rarely be true. In the most common of situations—discovering the search condition during an unlawful but good faith detention and immediately performing a search the balance of the three factors demonstrates that the search is so closely tied to police conduct that is at the heart of the exclusionary rule that the search is not free from the antecedent taint.

II. DISCOVERING A SEARCH CONDITION HAS LESS INTERVENING FORCE THAN DISCOVERING AN ARREST WARRANT AND RARELY WILL ATTENUATE THE ANTECEDENT TAINT

Under *Brown*'s test, the discovery that a person detained illegally but in good faith is subject to a parole search condition should have such limited intervening force that the taint of the detention will rarely be dissipated. Only under unusual circumstances, then—such as when the search occurs long after the detention (*Brown*'s first factor)—would suppression be unwarranted because the taint of the primary illegality has been attenuated.

A. The differing approaches of the Courts of Appeal

As touched on earlier, before this case, two opinions from the Courts of Appeal, *Durant* and *Bates*, analyzed the attenuating effect of an officer's discovery of a search condition during an unlawful detention and came to different conclusions.

1. Durant's equivalency approach

"Applying the factors used by the *Brendlin* court," *Durant*"conclude[d] that any illegality in the initial traffic detention was attenuated by [the defendant's] probation search condition."

(205 Cal.App.4th at p. 66.) "Although the patdown search and discovery of the gun occurred shortly after the traffic detention, they did not occur until after [the officer] had recognized [the defendant] as a person subject to a search condition." (*Ibid.*) "The search condition supplied legal authorization to search that was completely independent of the circumstances leading to the traffic stop." (*Ibid.*) "Nor [was] there any flagrancy or purposefulness to the alleged unlawful conduct by [the officer]—though the trial court found that the traffic stop was made without reasonable suspicion, it specifically found [the officer] did not act in an arbitrary, capricious, or harassing manner." (*Ibid.*)

Durant thus effectively held that a search condition has the same causally intervening force as an arrest warrant based on the sole attenuation rationale articulated in *Brendlin*: that the warrant provided independent and preexisting justification for a search of the defendant (this brief will sometimes refer to this as the independence rationale).

2. Bates's reduced-force approach

Bates expressly refused to adopt *Durant's* "implicit assumption that a probation search condition is the same as the arrest warrant present in . . . Brendlin." (222 Cal.App.4th. at p. 70.) Bates explained, "In the case of an arrest warrant, officers essentially have a duty to arrest an individual once the outstanding warrant is confirmed. A probation search condition, on the other hand, is a discretionary enforcement tool and therefore a *less compelling* intervening circumstance than an arrest warrant." (*Ibid.*, italics added, citation omitted.) *Bates* rejected "the proposition that discovery after the fact of a probation search condition will sanitize any unlawful detention without regard to the circumstances surrounding that seizure." (*Ibid.*) Weighing that lesser attenuating force against the egregiousness of the officer's conduct, Bates held that the officer's unlawful stop of the defendant was sufficiently "purposeful" to warrant suppression. (Id. at pp. 70-71.)

The Court of Appeal below, like *Durant*, suggested that it was bound by *Brendlin*'s independence rationale (opn. 16-17; see also opn. 22) and "distinguish[ed] *Bates* on its facts" rather than expressly rejecting its conclusion that discovering a search condition has less intervening force than discovering an arrest warrant (opn. 21-22).

B. Harmonizing Brendlin and Strieff

As noted *ante*, *Durant* relied on the independence rationale, which was the only rationale articulated in *Brendlin* for ascribing

causally intervening force to discovery of an arrest warrant. (Durant, supra, 205 Cal.App.4th at pp. 65-66.)⁶ After both Brendlin and Durant were decided, however, the United States Supreme Court in Strieff held that discovery of an arrest warrant has causally intervening force for two reasons: (1) the same independence rationale set forth in *Brendlin*, and (2) the mandatory nature of the arrest warrant (the ministerial rationale). (Strieff, supra, 136 S.Ct. at pp. 2062-2063.) While the Court of Appeal below did analyze *Strieff*, it adopted the equivalency approach by effectively treating the ministerial rationale as superfluous to *Strieff's* holding. (Opn. 13.) Moreover, the majority did so despite *Strieff*'s devoting more space and analysis to the ministerial rationale than the independence rationale. (Strieff, at pp. 2062-2063.) The majority evidently took the approach it did because it felt bound by *Brendlin* (opn. 22-23), which had held that the independence rationale alone imbued discovery of an arrest warrant with causally intervening force.

The majority's conclusion was colorable because *Strieff* did not explain the relative importance of or relationship between the independence rationale and the ministerial rationale. One could read *Strieff* as presenting each of those rationales as equal and alternative grounds for holding the taint in *Strieff* was

⁶ Because *Durant* followed the only rationale set forth in *Brendlin*, respondent disagrees with appellant's assertion that *Durant* was wrongly decided *at that time*. (OBM 39-43; see also OBM 30 [describing *Durant* as taking a "Wrong Turn"].)

attenuated. Under this reading, an event satisfying *either* rationale would have the full attenuating force that *Strieff* accorded to an arrest warrant.

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